IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS

DIVISION OF ST, CROIX
MOHAMMAD HAMED, by his ) CIVIL NO. §X-12-CV-370
authorized agent WALEED HAMED, )
) ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant, ) INJUNCTIVE RELIEF
) AND DECLARATORY RELIEF
V5. )
) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
FATHI YUSUF and UNITED CORPORATION, )
)
Defendants/Counterclaimants, )
)
vs. )
)
WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, )
MUFEED HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and )
PLESSEN ENTERPRISES, INC.,, )
)
)
Additional Counterclaim Defendants. )
)

COUNTERCLAIM

(“Counterclaim™) against Plaintiff Mohammad Hamed (“Plaintif” or “Hamed”) and the
Additional Counterclaim Defendants named below, Defendants United Corporation d/b/a Plaza

Extra (“United”) and Fathi Yusuf (“Yusuf”) (collectively, the “Defendants™) allege as follows:

JURISDICTION
1. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to V.I. Code Ann. tit. 4, §
76(a). Venue is proper pursuant to V.I. Code Ann. tit. 4, §78(a).

PARTIES

2. Yusuf, a citizen and resident of St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, owns 36% of the

outstanding stock of United and is the registered agent, trcasurer and secretary of United,
3. United is a U.S. Virgin Islands corporation, which was organized on January 15,
1979 and is currently in good standing. The owners and officers of United are and always have

been Yusuf and his direct family members,
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4, United is the fee simple owner of certain improved real property known as4Cand

4D Estate Sion Farm, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, which is improved with buildings that

comprise the United Shopping Plaza (the “Shopping Center”). This land was purchased prior to : -

the events at issue in this case.

5. United leases retail space at'its Shopping Center to commercial tenants and is the

sole owner of the “Plaza Extra” trade name/trademark, under which it does business,

6. Hamed is citizen of Jordan, who resides periodically on St. Croix. Hamed, upon ;

information and belief, has resided in Jordan for approximately the last 15 years, having retired -

sometime in 1996.

7. Additional Counterclaim Defendant Waleed Hamed (“Waleed”) is a son of :

Hamed and a citizen and resident of St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands.

8. Additional Counterclaim Defendant Waheed Hamed (“Waheed”) is a son of .

Hamed and a citizen and resident of St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands.

9. Additional Counterclaim Defendant Mufeed Hamed (“Mufeed”) is a son of
Hamed and a citizen and resident of St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands.

10.  Additional Counterclaim Defendant Hisham Hamed (“Hisham™) is a son of

Hamed and a citizen and resident of St. Croix, U.S, Virgin Islands,

11.  Additional Counterclaim Defendant Plessen Enterprises, Inc. (“Plessen™) is a U.S. -

Virgin Islands corporation, the outstanding stock of which is owned 50% by Hamed or his family

members and 50% by Yusuf or his family members.
ACTS CO 0 ALL S

I. The Nature Of The Relationship Between Hamed And Yusuf

12.  In this Counterclaim, Defendants will plead in the alternative. Defendants deny
the existence of any partnership between Hamed and Yusuf as alleged in the Complaint. In the ;

event a partnership between Yusuf and Hamed is nevertheless found to exist, then such :
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partnership gives rise to various duties and claims, Likewise, in the absence of a partnership, L

other claims exist. Hence, Defendants have set forth alternative pleadings to allege those claims .

which exist in the event there is or is not a partnership between Hamed and Yusuf.

13.  Three supermarket stores were opened that are the subject of this suit. Inor .-

around 1986, United opened the first Plazd Extra supermarket in Sion Ferm, St. Croix (“Plaza a

Extra — East”).

14.  In 1993, United opened the Plaza Extra supermarket in Tutu Park Mall, St. -

Thomas (“Plaza Extra — Tutu Park”), ‘
15.  In 2000, United opened the Plaza Extra supermarket in Grove Place, St. Croix

(“Plaza Extra — West") (collectively, the “Plaza Extra Stores”). This Counterclaim relates to the ;

ownership, operation and net profits of the three Plaza Extra Stores.

A. Scores Of Documents Contradict The Existence Of Any Partnership.

16. Hamed has sought, inter alia, a declaratory judgment as to the existence of a . - '

partnership between himself and Yusuf for the operation of the Plaza Extra Stores.
17.  Specifically, Hamed contends he “is entitled to declaratory relief finding that all

funds belonging to...[Hamed] held by United Corporation are held in (sic) either in the course of

business as an agent, as Yusuf's alter ego or as a constructive trust for...[Hamed], which must be :

returned forthwith.” (Complaint, § 46).
18.  Hamed further contends, “[i]n the alternative, Mohammad Hamed is entitled to

declaratory relief finding that an amount equal to 50% of the Partnership profits and property . -

held in United for distribution to or for the benefit of Yusuf are owed to Hamed under the

Partnership Agreement or pursuant to a constructive trust for Hamed.” (Complaint, § 46).

19.  Hamed also seeks “a judicial determination that the defendant United Corporation T

would be unjustly enriched if it does not disburse the Partnership funds and property belonging
to the plaintiff forthwith.” (Complaint, Prayer for Relief § 9).
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20. Despite Hamed’s new-found contentions in his Complaint, the relationship

between Hamed and Yusuf cannot be defined in traditional “western” legal terms as an “oral”

partnership for the operation of the Plaza Extra Stores.

21.  Bvery official document filed relating to the Plaza Extra Stores, representation

made to a government agency, tax filing signed under penalty of perjury, and all taxes paid, °

unequivocally prove that a partnership never existed between Hamed and Yusuf.

22.  In fact, these official filings demonstrate that the Plaza Extra Stores are, in fact,

operated under United’s corporate umbrella.
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23, United has corporate officers and stockholders, none of whom are Hamed or i

members of his family. United owns assets and engages in businesses other than the Plaza Extra ;

Stores.

24,  United has corporate debts utilized to fund and operate the Plaza Extra Stores.

25.  United has paid all the taxes on the income derived from the operation of the

Plaza Extra Stores.

26.  United was incorporated and operating for years before any business dealings or ; U

relationship between Hamed and Yusuf occurred.

27.  Further, over the last ten years, a federal criminal investigation was conducted
into the inner workings of the Plaza Extra Stores with knowledge of all allegedly involved. The
conclusion of the U.S. Department of Justice was that United, which existed as represented on all
official filings, was the owner of the Plaza Extra Stores as well as other assets, and that the
ownership of United is as defined by its business records of stock ownership. Therefore, it has :

already been determined that the Plaza Extra Stores are not owned by any alleged “partaership”

between Hamed and Yusuf.

28.  Asa result of this federal criminal investigation and case (V.1. Dist. Ct. Case No. '

1:05-cr-00015-RLF-GWB) (the “criminal case”), serious criminal repercussions were looming ;
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against United, its owners, officers and certain management employees, including two of .

Hamed’s sons, Waleed and Waheed.
29.  Not once during the decade long criminal case, did Hamed ever assert that he was

a 50/50 partner in the business or enterprige under investigation for criminal conduct for failing

to report taxable income from the Plaza Extra Stores. Rather, Hamed stood by quietly, out of the ;

country, while it was determined that the corporate entity, United, would bear the entire weight

of the criminal responsibility for under-reporting income from the Plaza Extra Stores.
30.  United's assets were frozen pending resolution of the criminal case. For more

than ten years, Hamed made no claim to the frozen assets including millions of dollars in cash,

31, Ultimately, United entered into a plea agreement with the government, filed

amended tax retumns for multiple years, and paid millions of dollars in taxes to true-up the under-

reporting issues. Hamed did not contribute or offer to contribute anything in this entire process.

32.  Now that the criminal case is coming to conclusion, the taxes and penalties have - ;-
been paid, and despite the volumes of official documentation to the contrary, Hamed, through his -

son and purported agent, Waleed, emerges from the shadows to contend that for more than 25

years, he had an “oral” partnership with Yusuf for the operation of the Plaza Extra Stores and

with it, rights as a 50/50 partner.

B. Oral Statements Are Not Sufficlent To Constitute Legal Admissions Or

Contradict Documentary Evidence,

33, To support his position, Hamed relies upon oral representations which, for the

most part, directly contradict the wealth of documentary evidence.

34.  Further, Hamed, attempts to import a “western” legal meaning to the oral .

statements of both himself and Yusuf,

35.  This effort is problematic for a number of reasons: 1) both Hamed and Yusuf use .

English as a second language and, therefore, at best, their English cannot be said to reflect a . .
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reliable level of fluency so as to constitute admissions and/or intent to attribute a “western”

meaning to terms; and 2) the American legal terms that they sometimes use are understood  :

differently in Islamic/Middle Eastern cultural and legal frameworks,

36. Both Hamed and Yusuf immigrated to the United States as adults, They were . -

raised in a non-“western” legal system in which Islamic legal principles applied. Islamic law
traditionally denotes all forms of associations between individuals as “partnerships.” However,
“partnerships” under Islamic law have no direct corollary in “western” legal terms. Rather, some

aspects or elements of a traditional “western”- defined partnership may exist but certain key .

elements required for a partnership with enforceable legal rights do not. Hence, the comparison

breaks down rather quickly.

37.  Further, there are many different types of “partnerships” under Islamic law, none ]
of which are a mirror image of a “partnership” as defined in “western” legal terms'. In
particular, a form of partnership exists in Islamic law, which allows for receipt of profits in some
proportion to the investment made but without managerial control or liability for debt, While
this arrangement may be deemed a “partnership” in Islamic law, such an arrangement is not a .
partnership in the traditional “westem” sense as it is missing essential hallmarks of a true
partnership.

38.  Yusufis not a lawyer, has not studied law and has testified that he does not know

the “legal definition™ of the term “partner” or “partnership.”

39.  Yusuf has testified that to the extent ke has made references to someone as his '

“partner” it was done casually as opposed to denoting legal significance.

! Many scholarly articles in comparative law explain this phenomenon and the difficulty in translating legal D
relationships where no legal counterpart exists, Much has also been written as to the inability to correlate certain | -/
business relationships, duties and associations into “westemn” logal forms and the adverso financial impact this has -
had upon Islamic business relationships, Stewart, Glenn “Examining The Islamic Concepts of Ownership, ..
Partnership and Equity Holdings from a Westem Perspective.” Glenn Stewart Observer, T December, 2011, Web. 7 .
December, 2011; Bilal, Gohar “Business Orgenizations under Islamic Law ~ A Brief Overview, Proceeding of the .~ .- ©. -~
Third Harvard University Forum on Islamic Finance: Local Challenges, Global Opportunities.” Center for Middle , -~ .

Eastern Studles, Harvard University, pp. 83-89. Web. (2011).
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40.  Oral statements (even if not complicated by language and cultural differences) are IR

not dispositive of the nature of an arrangement, rather it is the actual transaction or interaction

between the parties which defines the nature of their relationship.

41.  Because the oral representations of Yusuf and Hamed do not constitute -

admissions of a traditional “western” partnership arrangement, Hamed cannot bear his burden of 7

demonstrating he is Yusuf’s “50/50 partner.”

42, At best, Hamed has enjoyed an incredibly lucrative oral arrangement with Yusuf, SRR

his brother-in-law, whereby his relatively small loan/investment ($225,000) and even less

significant advances (approximately $175,000) have been repaid more than a hundred fold, :_{.

simply because Hamed provided funds when United needed them to complete its Shopping

Center and because Hamed was “family,” That arrangement provided Hamed with not only -
repayment of the monies he loaned on a non-recourse basis, but also repaid him on a periodic ’
basis with 50% of the net profits of the Plaza Extra Stores, which amounts varied depending
upon the profitability of the business, Unfortunately for Hamed, this agreement does not provide i

him with an ownership interest in the Plaza Extra Stores. Nor does it afford Hamed the ability to

exert any authority over the operations of the Plaza Extra Stores, to negotiate for their leases, or Lo

to determine whether to continue or liquidate their operations.

43.  While Hamed may have loaned Yusuf money so that United could open Plaza | . ..

Extra - Bast, that loan was repaid and the investment has provided significant returns. In any .g

event, a loan from a family member does not entitle him to an ownership interest in the business °

that benefited from the loan.

44,  Nor can Hamed’s services provide any consideration for payment of the 50% net

profits, since he received payment for his labor as a salaried employee of United.

45.  Thus, if United decides to end operations of the Plaza Extra Stores such that no

further net profits exist or to charge a rental expense for internal accounting purposes for the * :
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retail space occupied by Plaza Extra - East, Hamed may not protest, object or exert any influence =

over such decisions,

46.  Other than the oral representations, which Hamed would like to serve as the
linchpin for his alleged “partnership,” both Hamed and Yusuf have conducted their business .
dealings consistent with the wriiten documentation, owning various assets in corporate forms .
with properly defined stock ownership. Hence, Haméd has never hed any ownership interests in
the Plaza Extra Stores and, therefore, can exert no control over the operations and decisions of

the business.

IL History Of The Plaza Extra Stores — The Financing and the Investors

47. Before any of the Plaza Extra Stores ever opened, Yusuf wanted to “put .
something together for my children to secure their future."

48.  United bought the real estate located at Sion Farm, St. Croix, in fes simple. In

addition, United needed capital to finance the construction of the Shopping Center, which Yusuf

envisioned would house a supermarket and other businesses. . K : p , o o :
49, Initially, Yusuf approached traditional bank lenders. These lenders advised that .~ - o
they were unwilling to provide construction loans but assured Yusuf that once the building was -, 4
in place, they would provide a loan for the operations of the supermarket business.
50. However, United needed additional capital to fund the construction. At various :
points in time, when United needed additional resources that could not be secured fully through
traditional lending, Yusuf would turn to family members and others to provide him loans or ,
investments.
51.  All of these loan/investments were handled in the same manner, to wit: 8) monies vv :

were given to Yusuf as a loan or investment; b) Yusuf agreed to repay or provide a return on the

2 Transcript utilized by Hamed during Preliminary Injunction hearing to ellegedly demonxtmlc Ius “partnuship
| withﬂnmed (Feb. 2, 2000, Yusuf Depo, p. 11, L. 14-15, taken in Ahmed Idhei] ¥
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investment, equal to a percentage of the net profit from the Plaza Extra Stores or the Shopping

Center; ) the creditors/investors did not receive ownership interests in the businesses; d) the
creditors/investors did not exercise control over the businesses and had no authority to make
management decisions concerning the businesses; e) the creditors/investors were not liable for !

the debts of the Plaza Extra Stores or any mortgages or other encumbrances upon the Shopping
Center; f) the creditors/investors were not obligated to make any further contributions beyond
their initial investment; g) the creditors/investors were not liable for losses even though the :
return on their investment may vary depending upon the profitability of the business, and h) :

while Yusuf may discuss matters relating to the business with his creditors/investors, he retained ! -

full and complete authority to make management decisions on behalf of United as to its business .

operations and was not required to secure his creditor/investor’s approval or permission.

52. At best, the creditors/investors had an oral agreement for repayment of their ' R
investment, which is subject to various defenses including, inter alia, the statute of frauds and
statute of limitations.

A. Varlous Investors All Had Simflar Investment Structures.

53.  In the early 1980’s, United needed additional capital to fund the construction of
its Shopping Center, so Yusuf approached his brother, Ahmad Yusuf, in Kuwait, who loaned
Yusuf the $1.5 million dollars needed for the construction. Yusuf originally agreed to repay his
brother for the loan by giving him 40% of the net profits of the Shopping Ceater. As additional
funds were still needed, Yusuf’s brother provided more funds, in consideration of which, Yusuf
agreed to repay his brother by providing him 50°/q of the net profits of the Shopping Center. At

each point, Yusuf characterized his arrangement with his brother as his “partner.”

* Feb. 2, 2000, Yusuf Depo, p. 11,1. 14; p.12,1. 13-17; Ahmed Iéheilch v. United Corporation and Faihi Yusuf
Territorial Court of the Virgin Islands, Division of St. Thomas and St. John, Civil Action File No., 156/1997.
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54.  After the additional funds from Yusuf's brother were exhausted, a further
$300,000 was needed to complete the construction. At this point, in mid-1983, Yusuf borrowed -

$225,000.00 from his brother-in-law, Hamed. The loan was made on a non-recourse basis to .

.......................................

assist Yusuf by providing funds to United o it could open Plaza Extra — East, just as Yusufs = . -

brother had done earlier with the over $1.5 million. In recognition of Hamed’s loan/investment,

and other advances subsequently made by Hamed of approximately $175,000.00, Yusuf agreed : -

that Hamed would receive a percentage of the net profits. Ultimately, it was agreed that Hamed i

was to receive 50% of the net profits of Plaza Extra-East as a return on this investment and :.: ;

repayment of the loan.

55. Hamed was to be repaid periodically and receive his return on his investment

from the net profits of Plaza Extra — East on a set percentage basis. However, recovery of the !

return on the investment occurred upon a specific request. If Hamed sought to recover funds B

from his investment, he would coordinate with Yusuf and those funds would be given in cash e

and a notation would be made as to the amount given 8o as to insure an equal amount was paidto - k
Yusuf from these net profits,

56.  Hamed received no ownership interest in Plaza Extra — East. Hamed, also had no
managerial control over the operations of Plaza Extra — East,

57. Hamed’s risk was limited to only the amount he loaned/invested. He was not

liable for debts and was not a signatory or guarantor to the loans taken by United, which Yusuf | ;

guaranteed. Hence, as Hamed had very limited resources, he was never liable for losses nor -

obligated to make any contributions to cover losses, even though Hamed’s return fluctuated with :

the profitability of the business.

58.  After the Shopping Center was fully built (except for the supermarket) and was ,:‘ - .

approximately 80% occupied by tenants, Yusuf, on behalf of United, pursued another traditional :

loan, Although United applied for a $2.5 million dollar loan, it was only able to secure a $1.1
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million dollar loan from Banco Popular. Yusuf personally guaranteed United's loan and ;

collateralized it with his personal property. Neither Yusuf's brother nor Hamed were obligated .

under United’s loan as guarantors or otherwise.

59,  As additional monies were still required to open the supermarket at Plaza Extra - o
East, Yusuf next turned to his nephews and, likewise, offered a repayment plan that was based
upon a percentage of profits. Similarly, at this point Hamed provided additional funds (the | '
$175,000.00) and was to receive a return on that loan/investment based upon a percentage of the .

net profits from Plaza Extra — East.

60.  While certain funds were provided by the nephews, they were unable to continue -

their support and requested a return of their investment. Unable to return their loan/investment

immediately, Yusuf agreed to pay his nephews a set amount for both a return of their investment

and his use of their investment funds calculated at 12% interest on their investment fundsplusa - -

penalty of $75,000.00 each. Yusuf offered the same option to Hamed as well. Hamed agreed to

let his investment remain rather than demanding immediate repayment in exchange for a greater

repayment/return arrangement. It was at this point, that it was agreed that Hamed would be

entitled to 50% of the net profits of Plaza Extra - East as his return on his investment/loan.

61.  In or about February 1986, Yusuf secured a loan on behalf of United from First

Pennsylvania Bank for $2.5 million. From these loan proceeds, United paid the $1.1 million 2

loan from Banco Popular. The remaining funds were used to purchase inventory and additional

equipment needed to open Plaza Extra — East. Just as with the prior loan, Yusuf was the
guarantor and pledged his personal assets as collateral, Neither Hamed nor Yusuf's brother were
signatories to the loan or acted as guarantors,

62. Hamed did not own any real property, investments or other assets to use as

security for the loan obtained by United, nor did any of his family members.
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63.  Other loans were guaranteed by Yusuf as well to insure the opening of the Plaza . -

oo
J

Extra — Bast store.

64.  The business took time to develop and there were set backs. Yusuf worked |

around the clock to keep the business going and it eventually became profitable,

65. However, in 1992, Plaza Extra - East was destroyed in a fire.

66.  As the owner, United insured Plaza Extra - East and was the sole beneficiary of = =

the subject insurance policy, the proceeds of which were used to rebuild Plaza Extra - East.
67.  Neither Hamed nor Yusuf’s brother were obligated to contribute to the rebuilding -
efforts of Plaza Extra — East nor liable for any losses it sustained.
B. The Idheileh - $750,000 Investment
68.  AsPlaza Extra — Bast was being rebuilt, a Mr. Ahmad Idheileh approached Yusuf | . ':.ir: ; :
regarding a store in St. Thomas. j »
69.  United entered into a Joint Venture agreement with Mr, Idheileh. Just as with
Plaza Extra — East, Mr. Idheileh loaned certain monies for the opening of the store. His risk | e
was limited to the amount he loaned/invested. He was to receive, as his return on the investment, ' L
a percentage of the net profits of Plaza Extra ~Tutu Park. However, Plaza Extra ~Tutu Park : ‘
needed much more capital than the Idheileh loan/investment to open and operate. Hence, Yusuf : o
secured and guaranteed the loan given to United for Plaza Extra-Tutu Park, collateralizing the i
loan with his own real property. Just as with Plaza Extra — East, neither Hamed nor Idheileh .
bore any liability for these bank loans or risks. o
70.  Plaza Extra — Tutu Park took time before it was profitable and faced significant
competition with the opening of the Cost-U-Less store. As a result, there was financial pressure
on the business and strained relations with Idheileh. While Idheileh and United attempted to

resolve their differences, on January 16, 1994, they ultimately agreed to part ways. They
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formalized their agreement in a written Termination Agreement, whereby Idheileh was paid a : ..

sum certain as agreed by the parties.

71.  Three years later, in 1997, once Plaza Extra — Tutu Park was operating and k
successful, Idheileh sued both United and Yusuf. Idheileh contended he “owned” 33% of Plaza .. -

Deleted:

Extra ~Tutu Park and that the Termination Agreement was signed under duress. Idheileh lost as BN

the Court found that the Termination Agreement was enforceable. Further, the Joint Venture .

document reflected that no ownership interest was ever given. Rather, it set out the terms of the o

investment, which mirror the earlier investor arrangements, to wit: a) “United plans to open and

operate a supermarket...at Tutu Park,” b), “United wishes to secure further investment in the

supermarket,” ¢) “Idheileh agrees to invest $750,000 in the supermarket,” d) “Idheileh will

receive 33% of the net profit of the supermarket,” e) “payments are made pursuant :,

to...agreement...and not made unless both parties ...agree,” f) “United shall retain complete

control over all decisions relating to the supermarket except to the extent it may delegate...”.

72.  Despite efforts by Hamed (o use testimony of Yusuf from the Idheileh case, the

issue of a partnership between Hamed and Yusuf was not an issue for adjudication in that case

and there was no such judicial finding, Lastly, Idheileh testified that he had never seen Hamed

once in any of his dealings with Yusuf and did not believe him to have any interest whatsoeverin ’

Plaza Bxtra — Tutu Park.
II.  None of the Hallmarks of a Partnership Exist.

A. Hamed Was A United Employee Without Managerial Control.

73. Hamed was employed by United as a warehouse receiving supervisor. He T

received a salary for his labor and services until 1996, when he retired and returned to Jordan,
74.  Hamed’s job was to make sure that the inventory was properly accounted for and
not subject to theft. Hamed had no direct access to the safe and no signatory authority on any of

the bank accounts of the Plaza Extra Stores. Hamed had no authority in the management and

RN
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operations of Plaza Extra — East. As he was not fluent in English, Hamed had no role in the

management or supervision of the roughly 100 to 150 employees. He also did not place i

inventory orders because, as Hamed has previously testified, he cannot read English.

75.  Hamed received weekly checks for his wages and, upon information and belief,

“has always filed his tax returns as an employee of United. Further, United employed each of o

Hamed's four sons, Waleed, Waheed, Mufeed, and Hisham (collectively, the “Hamed Sons”) as

managers. Each of the Hamed Sons was assigned to one of the three Plaza Extra Stores operated .

by United. Hamed has acknowledged under oath that the Hamed Sons are employees of United.

76.  The Hamed Sons worked for United at the same time as Hamed. Their roles did :
not change following Hamed's retirement. Rather, Waleed, for example, was a manager during :

the period that his father worked at United and remained a manager thereafter. His duties, ;‘ :

responsibilities and obligations did not change or increase after his father’s retirement,

77. Hamed never received any ownership interest in the Plaza Extra Stores,

Deleted:; Answ
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ownership control, or stock in United, which is the actual owner of the Plaza Extra Stores. 3j AT

Hamed did not participate in the management and decision making of the Plaza Extra Stores,
Hence, upon his retirement, Hamed had no ownership authority to provide to Waleed to act as

his “authorized agent.” Indeed, the September 12, 2012, power of attorney given by Hamed to

Waleed makes no mention of any partnership or Hamed’s authority as a pariner.

78.  Rather, it was Yusuf's business acumen, management, and leadership that enabled

the Plaza Extra Stores to become a successful grocery business growing to three locations with

over 600 employees.
79.  As Hamed has admitted under oath, Yusuf was always in charge of all operations

of the Plaza Extra Stores. Hamed has readily admitted that he has not worked in a management

capacity but instead that “Mr. Yusuf, he is in charge for everybody” and in charge of all the :

Plaza Extra Stores.

erand
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B. Unlike True Partners, Hamed Was Not Responsible For Liabilities of the Plaza | -
Extra Stores. '

80.  Hamed, unlike Yusuf, is not a guarantor of any loan or lease of United used to
fund or operate the Plaza Extra Stores. |

81, In a true partnership, cach partner is responsible for the lisbilies of the
partnership. Joint risk, exposure and liability are essential hallmarks of an actual partnership.
Over the years, various lawsuits have been initiated against United and/or Yusuf relating to -
events and operations at the Plaza Extra Stores, Not once has Hamed ever been named as a party i
or alleged to be an owner of the Plaza Extra Stores in any lawsuit. Notably, Yusuf never sought ‘
to include Hamed as a party or otherwise join him in such suits even when facing such risk and - .
liability. Moreover, when defending the criminal case and facing the prospect of paying millions S :
of dollars in taxes and penalties, Yusuf did not contend that Hamed was a 50% owner and, thus, i
50% responsible. If ever there was a time to confirm an alleged “partnership,” it is when facing
serious exposure. This was never done because Hamed was not a true partner or owner of the
Plaza Extra Stores.

C. Hamed Had Not Filed Taxes for Over a Decade and When He Did File, He ‘
Never Clalmed a Partnership Interest. ;

82, Hamed has never filed (before the commencement of this litigation) a single U.S.
Partnership Return (Form 1065) conceming the Plaza Extra Stores.
83.  In fact, after retiring in 1996, Hamed never filed any tax returns at all. It was not ‘
until after he decided to file this suit, once the criminal case was concluding, that he decided to
file a tax return.
84.  For a period in excess of 25 years, Hamed never demanded a Schedule K-1
Partnership Schedule from United, Yusuf or the Plaza Extra Stores, Hamed never (before the
commencement of this litigation) reported his alleged “partnership interest” in the Plaza Extra .

Stores to any third-party or governmental agency.
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85.  Additionally, since 1986, upon information and belief, Hamed never asserted in a S
single legal document or tax filing that he was a partner of any entity, let alone the partnership i >
alleged in the Complaint.

86.  Hamed never filed a return (before the commencement of this litigation) to show
any dividends from United, nor has he ever, personally or through his purported agent, Waleed,
declared any interest in United. Not a single record indicates any ownership interest by Hamed or
any of his children in United.

87.  Since 1986, not a single Income Tax Return, Schedule or any other tax document
has identified Hamed as having any equity or shareholder interest in United or the Plaza Extra ‘
Stores.

88.  In the criminal case, Hamed’s sons (Waleed and Waheed) always represented to |
the U.S. Government that they were employees of United, with no interest in the shares of -
United or ownership in a partnership.

89,  Since its inception in 1979, United has reported all of its tax obligations —and has
filed all of its tax returns — as a corporation under either Subchapters “C” or “S” of the Internal . -
Revenue Code (“IRC") — and never as a partnership under any partnership designation of the
IRC or otherwise.

D. No Property Was Acquired In Partnership Name.

90.  No properties were ever acquired in a partnership name, or any entity resembling -, : ‘ i
a partnership. Rather, if an investment or property was acquired, funds from United would be e
paid to Yusuf, who would then purchase a property and title it either in both Hamed and Yusuf’s : : L
name or purchase it in the of name a corporation which they each owned jointly. g

91. Hence, Hamed and Yusuf have always demonstrated clean separation of
businesses by forming separate corporations to invest in other business activities. Hamed and

Yusuf formed the following corporations, owned in equal shares, as follows:
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i.  Sixteen Plus Corporation, a corporation with 1600 shares issued, owned
equally between the Yusuf and Hamed families;
il.  Y&H Investments, Inc., a corporation with100 shares issued, owned
equally by the Yusuf and Hamed families;
fli.  Plessen Enterprises, Inc,, a corporation with 1600 shares issued, owned
equally between the Yusuf and Hamed families; and
iv.  Peter's Farm Investment Corporation, a corporation with 1000 shares
issued, owned equally between Hamed and Yusuf.
E. Hamed Was Silent As To His Alleged Partnership in the Plaza Extra Stores
When United, Yusuf And His Sons Were Facing Criminal Charges And Huge
Tax Liabilittes.
92,  On September 3, 2003, the U.S. Department of Justice indicted United, Yusuf,
Maher Yusuf, Waleed, and Waheed in the criminal case. :
93.  Upon information and belief, Hamed was never indicted because his employment -
with United was terminated in 1996, and because Hamed had no other management or equity
interest in United or the Plaza Extra Stores.
94,  Each indicted defendant in the criminal case retained separate defense counsel,
95.  Inlight of the fact that all parties to the criminal case were in agreement as to the
corporate structure and operations of United, the parties executed a joint defense agreement, :
whereby all communications between the criminal defense attorneys could be shared '
simultaneously without waiver of confidentinlity or privileges. '
96.  The defendants in the criminal case retained a team of Certified Public
Accountants and a Tax Attorney to assist the parties in the preparation of the Federal Corporate 8
Tax Returns to comply with the U.S, Justice Department’s demand for tax returns, payment of ;
past taxes, interest, and penalties. As of the date of this pleading, the criminal case will have

been pending for more than ten years.




COMIIERTLAIRL o e e e e e et e e« oo
Hamed v. Unlted, et al. Case No. SX12-CV-370
Pege 180f M4

97.  During this extended period of time, Hamed never sought to intervene in the
criminal case to assert that he is a partner of United or Yusuf, or that he has any interest in the
Plaza Extra Stores.

98.  On March 19, 2010, the parties’ defense attomneys, working pursuant to the joint :
defense agreement, negotiated a plea agreement, The terms of the plea agreement called for the .. o,
dismissal of all criminal counts against the individual defendants in exchange for United e

pleading guilty to one count of tax evasion, and the payment of substantial taxes and penalties.

99, At no time, did Hamed’s purported agent, Waleed, or his co-defendant, Waheed, -
raise the issue of a partnership as alleged in the Complaint.

100. In addition, the plea agreement called for the parties to file accurate U.S, Federal
Tax Returns and Gross Receipt Returns with the Virgin Islands Bureau of Internal Revenue and o
the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. Nothing in the plea agreement required the filing of any .
partnership returns because no partnership existed as acknowledged by the attorneys of Waleed
and Waheed. :

101, Neither Waleed nor Waheed ever indicated to the U.S. Justice Department that the '~
business arrangement between Hamed and United or Yusuf was anything other than an e
employment relationship. As such, until the filing of this action, no record existed of any
purported “partnership” between Hamed and Yusuf.

1V. The Criminal Case Reveals That Hamed And Waleed Converted Monies from
the Plaza Extra Stores.

102. In September of 2010, Yusuf received a partial copy of the FBI file, records, and !
documents, electronically reproduced and stored on a hard drive. The hard drive contained
thousands of documents including bank statements and copies of cancelled checks. The ':

documents were organized under the names of various individuals in the Hamed and Yusuf :
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families, In other words, whatever the FBI found for any specific person, they would scan and -

organize the documents under that person’s name,

103. Upon review of these documents, Defendants discovered defalcation and

conversion of substantial assets including cash from United by Hamed and Waleed.

104. During a search of the documents and files delivered by the U.S. Government, P

United reviewed documents comprising tax returns for Waleed. An examination of Waleed's tax
returns revealed the following significant assets:
8. Tax Year 1992 (Stocks & Investments) ceceeeeeeceesss$ 408,572.00

b. Tax Year 1993 (Stocks & Investments) «..cceeseeees..$7,587,483.00

105, The detailed stock acquisitions, which were listed meticulously by date of i L

acquisition, price and number of shares purchased, could only have been acquired by Waleed f:‘_

through either a) his unlawful access to monies and other properties belonging to United since

Waleed never held any other employment since 1986, other than his employment with United, : -

or, b) his misappropriation of monies which were “partnership” funds for which Waleed may be R .

individually liable, or for whicﬁ Hamed may be liable in the event that Waleed was acting as -

Hamed’s authorized agent when removing such funds.

106. Upon information and belief, Hamed knew of or directed Waleed’s misconduct

and personally benefited from his agent’s defalcation and conversion of millions of dollars from

United,

107. For example, Waleed and Hamed misappropriated funds, which Yusuf and Hamed '_ ¥

had agreed to send to a charity in West Bank, Palestine. The monsy was designated for the building :

of a concrete batch plant (the “Plant”) in an impoverished area to provide the poor with employment '

opportunities,

E g e
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108. In 1996, Waleed, as a managerial employee of United, was an euthorized co-

signatory with Yusuf on various bank accounts in St. Mertin and custodian of an account in Waleed's .f‘ -

name.

-{ Deteted: Answer and

109. Yusuf authorized Waleed to send $1 million to Hamed in the West Bank as & =~ -

charitable donation on behalf of United. Hamed was required to disperse the money to two local

managers that were hired to set up the Plant, which was eventually formed and employed about 38 of - :

the poor in the community.

110. Eventually, Yusuf met in the West Bank with the two managers of the Plant, which
was supposed to have been purchased with the $1 million that was sent to Hamed through his agent,

Waleed.

111, Yusuf inquired of the managers regarding the operations of the Plant. Yusuf was

advised that they were losing sales because they had no money to buy a pump.

112.  Yusuf was informed that they did not receive $1 million dollars, but had received

only $662,000.00 from Hamed.

113. In fact, bank records revealed that Hamed hed actually received $2 million dollars, :

instead of the $1 million dollars authorized by Yusuf.

114.  Upon review of the records received from the U.S. Government, it was revealed that i

Hamed or Waleed had pocketed $1,338,000 of the $2 million dollars transferred to Hamed by his i :

son, Waleed, and only $662,000 was actually distributed to the charitable project.

V.  The Current Controversy Has Resulted in Deadlock and Inability to Operate |

Plessen,

115. The current controversy between the Hamed and Yusuf families has negatively |

impacted the ability of Plessen to function and operate.

116. The stalemate between the Yusuf and Hamed families has resulted in deadlock as

to the operations of Plessen.
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117.  In order to preserve the assets of Plessen and insure that its obligations are timely j

met, Yusuf seeks to dissolve and liquidate Plessen.
V1.  United Owned Investments and Businesses In Which Hamed Was Never A Part.

118, United maintains other investments and businesses separate from its operation of
the Plaza Extra Stores. At no time did Hamed or any of his children ever participate, manage, or
have any interest in United’s other operations. Hamed has conceded under oath that he has no
interest in United or any of its operations not related to the Plaza Extra Stores.

119. Other than receiving 50% of the net profits of the Plaza Extra Stores, Hamed
never received any proceeds, profits, or distributions from United’s other operations, which ‘

primarily consist of the reats generated by United’s real estate holdings.

VIL In the Event of a Partnership, What Were Its Terms?

120. Although Yusuf contends he has no partnership with Hamed, to the extent that
their relationship is determined to be a partnership (the “Alleged Partnership™), Yusuf alleges
that the parties engaged in a course of conduct and possessed certain understandings as to how
monies for the Alleged Partnership were accounted for and to be paid.

121.  Further, in the event that the Alleged Partnership is found to exist, Hamed, as a ;i
partner owes certain fiduciary duties to the Alleged Partnership and to Yusuf as his partner. i
Those duties, among other things, include duties of loyalty and to act in the best interests of the
Alleged Partnership. |

122. Hamed's fiduciary duties to the Alleged Partnership and to Yusuf relate not only a
to his individual actions as a partner but also, to the extent he purports to act as a partner through |
his authorized agent, then Hamed’s fiduciary duties and, thus, liability for breaches of any such

duties, extends to the actions of his authorized agent.
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123. Waleed’s misappropriation of monies from the Plaza Extra Stores, if acting as an '
agent of Hamed or at his direction and with his knowledge constitutes a breach of Hamed’s
fiduciary duties to the Alleged Partnership and to Yusuf for which Hamed is liable.

124. Inthe event the Alleged Partnership is determined to exist, then Hamed would be ;
responsible for any liabilities of the Alleged Partnership.

VIII. Rent

125. United is the sole owner of the Shopping Center which contains the retail
premises where Plaza Extra - East is located. .

126. United consistently maintained that it is entitled to rent payments as an internal
accounting expense to be utilized as an offset against income from Plaza Extra- East and which
thereby reduces the net profits, At present, United has a motion pending to withdraw past due
rents to which it is entitled. In the event that United is unable to recover the rent it seeks for
internal accounting expense purposes and/or in the event that the Alleged Partnership is deemed e » - ‘
to exist, then United seeks to recover the past due rent from the Alleged Partnership in .
accordance with the manner in which rent has been collected in the past.

127. Since 1986, United and the Alleged Partnership have always agreed that the value
of any rent due to United for any retail space used by Plaza Extra — East would be withdrawn
from the gross sales proceeds from Plaza Extra — East from time to time. Since 1986, the parties

have customarily settled all rents due upon demand by United.

128. Historically, it was determined that United was entitled to rent for the premises
occupied by Plaza Extra — East, From the beginning to December 31, 1993, United was paid in
full for the rent. ‘

129.  For the period of January 1, 1994 through May 4, 2004, United made demand but »

Hamed, on behalf of the Alleged Partnership, refused to allow United to withdraw the rent value

of $3,999,679.73 (69,680 sq. ft. at $5.55 sq. ft.) from the gross revenues of Plaza Extra — East.
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130. However, for the period of May 5, 2004 through December 31, 2011, the parties
agreed that the rent due and owing United was $5,408,806.74, which amounts to a monthly rent
of $58,791.38. The monthly rent of $58,791.38 for Plaza Extra — East was calculated based on
the yearly sales of Plaza Extra — Tutu Park. The sales were divided by the square footage to
arrive at a percentage amount - 2.0333%. That percentage amount then was multiplied by the
sales of Plaza Extra — East. See Exhibit 1 (percentage highlighted in yellow).

131.  On or about February 7, 2012, a check in the amount of $5,408,806.74 was issued
to United from the earnings of Plaza Extra - East. See Copy of Check #64866 attached as
Exhibit 2,

132. Consistent with the parties’ understanding as to payment of rent to United,
Hamed, either individually or as a partner of the Alleged Partnership, never raised any issue
concerning the statute of limitations or denied that rent was owed to United because it has always
been the parties’ practice to settle rents when United makes a demand, regardless of when such
demand takes place.

133.  On or about May 17, 2013, United, utilizing the same formula previously agreed
upon to calculate the rent, again made demand for rent due for the period of January 1, 2012
through May 30, 2013,

134, Hamed has made clear that it is his intention not to authorize rent payments to
United for the occupancy of Plaza Extra — East, As such, in the event that the Alleged
Partnership is deemed to exist, the Alleged Partnership not only owes rent to United but also is
an unlawful holdover tenant of the premises occupied by Plaza Extra-East.

135.  Further, because the Alleged Partnership failed to pay the rent as demanded by
United, in September of 2010, United, through Yusuf, orally noticed the Alleged Partnership by
informing Hamed's authorized agent, Waleed, of United’s intent to terminate the occupancy

agreement for Plaza Extra — East effective December 31, 2011,
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136, When Hamed, on behalf of the Alleged Partnership, refused to accept the '

termination notice or cause the premises to be vacated, United issued a written notice to vacate -

on January 1, 2012,

137.  United’s notice called for an increase in the rent, in the event the premises were -
not vacated, to $200,000 a month for the period of January 1, 2012 to March 31, 2012, and ,

$250,000 for any month after April 1, 2012 should Plaza Extra — East continue occupying the

premises despite such notice.

138.  Therefore, for the period of January 1, 2012 through September 31, 2012, United
is entitled to rent from the Alleged Partnership in the amount of $1,800,000.

139. Despite United’s termination of the oral, month to month occupancy agreement

for the premises occupied by Plaza Extra-East and its demand that such premises be vacated, the

vumm&nnosxucvm{"““‘“"""“"""" e .

Alleged Partnership continues to enjoy the benefits of the operations of Plaza Extra — East store . ‘

including, but not limited to, the use of valuable retail space located at the Shopping Center,

without paying the outstanding rent.

140. Through December 31, 2013, the total rent due and outstanding for the premises -

occupied by Plaza Extra — East is $5,410,672.85. This unpaid rent is an amount certain, :

liquidated, and subject to immediate collection from the Alleged Partnership.
- COUNTIX
DEFENDANTS’ CLAIM FOR
DECLARATORY RELIEF THAT NO PARTNERSHIP EXISTS

141. Paragraphs 1 through 140 of this Counterclaim are realleged.

- 142, There exists an actual controversy as to whether there was ever a partnership :

formed between Yusuf and Hamed for the operation of the Plaza Extra Stores,

143. Defendants seek a declaratory judgment which confirms that United is the sole =~ - -

owner and operator of the Plaza Extra Stores, that United has full and complete authority over By
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decisions and actions taken in and for the Plaza Extra Stores, and that United has ownership of
all assets held in United accounts or in United’s name.

144, United is further entitled to a declaratory judgment that it has the power and
authority to account for its net profits, taking into account any yet unpaid expenses, including
past due rents. To the extent that Yusuf orally agreed to provide Hamed with a return on his
investment in an amount equal to 50% of the net profits of the Plaza Extra Stores, which are
owned and operated by United, then such net profits must net out all unpaid rent and all
competing claims for recoupment and setoff.

COUNT II
DECLARATORY RELIEF

145. Paragraphs 1 through 144 of this Counterclaim are realleged.

146. In the event that the Alleged Partnership is determined to exist, there exists an
actual controversy between Hamed and Yusuf as to the terms of the Alleged Partnership, its
duration, their respective rights, interests, and obligations concerning the Plaza Extra Stores and
the disposition of the assets and liabilities of these stores. This Court should resolve the
controversy by entering an appropriate declaratory judgment.

COUNT III
CONVERSION

147.  Paragraphs 1 through 146 of this Counterclaim are realleged.

148. Hamed and Waleed, acting individually and as agent for Hamed, have unlawfully
defalcated and converted to their own benefit and gain substantial funds belonging to
Defendants.

149, Defendants never authorized these funds to be appropriated to the personal use of

Hamed or Waleed.
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150. Hamed and Waleed are therefore liable to Defendants for all funds converted for =
their personal gain and benefit in an amount to be determined after a full accounting is
completed.

COUNT IV
ACCOUNTING

151, Paragraphs | through 150 of this Counterclaim are realleged.

152 In the event that the Alleged Partmership is determined to exist, then Hamed owes
a fiduciary duty of loyalty and care to the Alleged Partnership and to Yusuf as his partner. These -
fiduciary duties obligate Hamed to, among other things, account to Yusuf for all funds generated ;‘ S
by the Plaza Extra Stores taken for his or his families’ personal use without Yusuf's knowledge
or consent.

153, Despite repeated demands therefore, Hamed has failed and refused to account to :
Yusuf for all assets of the Plaza Extra Stores taken or converted by Hamed or his agents.
Accordingly, Yusuf is entitled to a full accounting of all funds taken or converted by Hamed and ’
his agents from the assets and revenues generated by the Plaza Extra Stores. :

COUNT Y
RESTITUTION

154. Paragraphs 1 through 153 of this Counterclaim are realleged.
155. Hamed and his agents have obtained in excess of $7 million of the Plaza Extra -
Stores’ monies under such circumstances that in equity and good conscience they ought not ,
retain and the Hamed Sons participated and aided and abetted in this conduct by accepting funds
from the Plaza Extra Stores and, among other things, using them to purchase and improve
properties for their own personal benefit. ‘
156. Defendants are, therefore, entitled to restitution in the form of a constructive trust i

over any assets purchased with those funds; an equitable lien over such assets; and disgorgement -
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of any profits made from the use of the Plaza Extra Stores’ funds or assets purchased with the v
use of such funds.
COUNT VI
UNJUST ENRICHMENT AND
IMPOSITION OF A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST
157. Paragraphs 1 through 156 of this Counterclaim are realleged.
158. Hamed and his agents have obtained in excess of $7 million of the Plaza Extra o
Stores’ monies under such circumstances that in equity and good conscience they ought not :
retain and the Hamed Sons participated and aided and abetted in the conduct by accepting funds ./ :
from the Plaza Extra Stores and, among other things, using them to iaurcbsse and improve ot
properties for their own personal benefit,
159. Defendants are entitled to the imposition of constructive trusts, equitable liens, -
and disgorgement of all profits in order to prevent Hamed and the Hamed Sons from being I
unjustly enriched by money ill-gotten from the Plaza Extra Stores, '

COUNT VIII
BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY

160. Paragraphs 1 through 159 of this Counterclaim are realleged.

161. In the event that the Alleged Partnership is determined to exist, Hamed owes
Yusuf a fiduciary duty to act in a manner consistent with their mutual interests and not to deal
with him in a manner that promotes only Hamed's or his families’ interests to the detriment of
Yusuf,

162. Hamed breached his fiduciary duty to Yusuf by, emong other things, failing to
disclose millions of dollars of Plaza Extra Stores’ funds converted by Hamed or his agents and
otherwise acting in a manner inconsistent with Yusuf's interests and welfare, and by
subordinating Yusufs interests in the Plaza Extra Stores to those of Hamed and his family.

163.  Asaresult of these breaches of fiduciary duties, Yusuf has been damaged.
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DISSOLUTION OF ALLEGED PARTNERSHIP

164. Paragraphs 1 through 163 of this Counterclaim are realleged.

165. Although Defendants deny the existence of any partnership with Hamed, in the -
event the Alleged Partnership is determined to exist, then Yusuf is entitled to dissolution of the |
Alleged Partnership and to wind up its affairs, pursuant to the Uniform Partnership Act, in that -
such partnership would be an oral at-will partnership and Yusuf provided notice of his intent to
terminate any business relationship (including any partnership) with Hamed in March of 2012,

166. Since Hamed has refused to consent to a dissolution of the Alleged Partnership, | ’ ‘
Defendants are entitled to a prompt and orderly dissolution of the Alleged Partnership under the o

Uniform Partnership Act.

DISSOLU%%%%%LESSEN
167. Paragraphs 1 through 166 of this Counterclaim are realleged.
168. Because the equity of Plessen is owned equally by the Hamed and Yusuf families B
who have an irreconcilable disagreement on how to continue the business operations of this ‘

company, it should be dissolved and its assets liquidated according to taw.

APPOINTM%%N(%‘FKRECEIVER

169. Paragraphs 1 through 168 of this Counterclaim are realleged.

170. In the event that the Alleged Partnership is determined to exist, a qualified,
neutral business person should be appointed as Receiver for the Alleged Partnership to operate the ;-
Plaza Extra Stores and as Receiver for Plessen. :

171.  The Receiver should liquidate the assets of the Plaza Extra Stores and Plessen and
divide the net proceeds amongst Hamed and Yusuf according to their respective interests, as

declared by this Court, after accounting for all liabilities and claims for recoupment and setoff
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since Yusuf desires to immediately terminate any and all business relations Hamed may have with
either of the Defendants.

COUNT XI
RENT FOR RETAIL SPACE BAY 1

172. Paragraphs 1 through 171 of this Counterclaim are realleged.

173. United has historically deducted rent for Plaza Extra — East as an internal expense
and is entitled to deduct same so as to arrive at a proper calculation of the net profits from Plaza
Extra — East.

174. In the alternative, in the event that the Alleged Partnership is determined to exist,
then United is entitled to deduct all rent currently due and owing to arrive at the proper
calculation of the net profits from Plaza Extra — East.

175, Whether an internal expense or a debt of the Alleged Partnership, for the period of
January 1, 1994 through May 4, 2004, United is entitled to rent in the amount of $3,999,679.73
for Bay No. 1 (69,680 sq. ft. of retail space at $5.55 sq. ft.) for the operations of the Plaza Extra —
East.

176. Whether an internal expense or a debt of the Alleged Partnership, for the period of
January 1, 2012 to date, United is entitled to rent for Bay No. 1 (69,680 sq. i, of retail space at
the current monthly rate of $58,791.38).

177. In the event that the Alleged Partnership is determined to exist, then Hamed is in
violation of the agreement to pay rent to United in an amount exceeding $5,293,090.09.

178, United, as the fee simple owner, is entitled to all unpaid rent for the use of Bay 1,
and to recover possession of its premises currently occupied by Plaza Extra — East.

COUNT XII
PAST RENT FOR RETAIL SPACES BAYS 5 & 8

179. Paragraphs 1 through 178 of this Counterclaim are realleged.
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180, United provided Plaza Extra — East with retail spaces Bay 5§ & 8 for various time

periods to increase the storage and capacity of Bay 1 (the main retail space where Plaza Extra —
East is located).

181. Bay No. 5 (3,125 sq. ft. of retail space) was utilized for storage and quick access
to various inventories used in the operations of Plaza Extra — Bast. Whether an internal expense
or a debt of the Alleged Partnership, United is entitled to rent from May 1, 1994 through October
31, 2001 at rate of $12.00 per sq. ft.

182, Bay No. 8 (6,250 sq fi. of retail space) was utilized for the operations of Plaza
Extra — East. Whether an internal expense or a debt of the Alleged Partrership, United is entitled
to rent from April 1, 2008 through May 30, 2013 at a rate of { (6.15 per sq. ft.

183. In the event that the Alleged Partnership is determined to exist, Hamed has :

refused to acknowledge his obligation to pay United the outstanding rent for Bays 5 and 8.
184, United, as the fee simple owner, is entitled to all unpaid rent for the use of Bays 5
and 8 in the amount of $793,984.38.

COUNT X111
CIVIL CONSPIRACY

185. Paragraphs 1 through 184 of this Counterclaim are realleged.
186. Hamed and the Hamed Sons agreed to perform the wrongful acts and accomplish
the wrongful ends alleged in this Counterclaim, and they aided and abetted each other and acted
on that agreement.

187. As a result of such conspiracy, the Defendants have been damaged.

COUNT XTIV
INDEMNITY AND CO| 10
188. Paragraphs 1 through 187 of this Counterclaim are realleged
189, To the ex hat United has paid an es, in allies with res
the income of the Plaza Extra Stores that should have been pai Hamed, United is entitled to
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full indemnification from Hamed for such payment including interest at the legal rate from the

date of such payment. Further, to the extent that any accounting and legal fees and other costs
are incurred relating to any tax returns or amendments that must be prepared and filed for taxe

paid by United that should have been paid by Hamed, United is entitled to full indemnification

from Hamed for such fees and costs.

190. In the event the Alleged Parinership is determined to exist, then Yusufis entitled

to_full indemnification from Hamed for half of any debts or obligations of the Alleged

Partnership, regardless of the form of the

indebtedness or whether Hame:

or guarantor of any such obligation.

191. In the event the Alleged Partnership is determined to exit, then Yusuf'is entitled to ..

contribution from_Hamed for half of any liabilitics of the Alleged Partnership, which Yusuf has .

paid or may become obligated to pay in the fut

Accordingly, Defendants respectfully request entry of judgment in their favor providing
the following relief:
i.  adeclaratory judgment declaring the parties’ rights and obligations with respect to the
Plaza Extra Stores;
ii.  a full accounting of all funds taken by Hamed or his agents from the Plaza Extra
Stores without Defendants’ authorization;

iii.  ajudgment declaring that Hamed and the Hamed Sons hold any assets purchased with
funds improperly taken from the Plaza Extra Stores as constructive trustees for
Defendants and imposing a constructive trust or equitable lien in favor of Defendants
over all funds taken without authorization by Hamed or his agents or assets purchased
with such funds;

iv.  awarding compensatory, consequentizl, and punitive damages in an amount according

to proof at trial;
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v. appointing a Receiver to dissolve and wind down the affairs of any joint
venture/partnership determined to exist between Hamed and Yusuf and to dissolve
and liquidate Plessen;

vi. a.judgment for all rent found due and owing for the premises occupied by Plaza
Extra-East and ordering immediate restitution of such premises to United;

vii. __a judgment for all taxes, interest and penalties paid by United that should have been

paid by Hamed together with interest from the date of payment as well as all fees

and costs associated with any tax returns or amendments that must be prepared and

filed regarding such payment;

viii.  a judgment against Hamed in favor of Yusuf for Hamed's portion of all debts,
liabilities and obligations of the Alleged Partnership, past and present;
ix. _awarding Defendants their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in defending against«- -~ { Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering

Style: i, 0, i, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Right
. . . . + Aligned at: 0.5" + Indent at: 0.75"
the Complaint and prosecuting this Counterclaim; and

x. _ providing such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.
Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ, P. 38(b), Defendants demand a trial by jury of all issues triable

by right to a jury.

DUDLEY, TOPPER and FEUERZEIG, LLP

Dated: Januaryl3th 2014 By: A / I /ﬂ

LGregory H. Hodges (V:1/Bar No. 174)
1000 Frederiksberg Gade - P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, VI 00804
Telephone: (340) 715-4405
Telefex: (340) 715-4400
E-mail:ghodges@dtflaw.com

and

Nizar A. DeWood, Esq. (V.I. Bar No, 1177)
The DeWood Law Firm

2006 Eastern Suburbs, Suite 101
Christiansted, VI 00830
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Telephone: (340) 773-3444
Telefax: (888) 398-8428

Email: info@dewood-law.com

Attorneys for Fathi Yusuf and United Corporation
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

AMENDED ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM to be served upon the following via e-mail:

Joel H. Holt, Esq.

LAW OFFICES OF JOEL H. HOLT
2132 Company Street

Christiansted, V.I. 00820

Email: holtvi@aol.com

Carl Hartmann, I1I, Esq.

5000 Estate Coakley Bay, #L-6
Christiansted, VI 00820
Email: carl@carlhartmann.co
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